
 

BULLOCH COUNTY 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

AGENDA ● MARCH 21, 2023 

 Regular Meeting Honey Bowen Building Multi-Purpose Room 8:30 AM 

  1 Max Lockwood Drive, Statesboro, GA 30458 

Bulloch County Page 1 Updated 3/16/2023 11:35 AM  

I. CALL TO ORDER, WELCOME MEDIA AND VISITORS 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Chairman Thompson 

II. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Commissioner Toby Conner 

III. ROLL CALL 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Clerk of the Board Venus Mincey-White  

IV. APPROVAL OF GENERAL AGENDA 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Chairman Thompson 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Chairman Thompson 

1. Minutes Approval: Tuesday March 7th, 2023 05:30 PM 

2. Motion to approve bid from Shea Tractor for purchase of a Compact Excavator 

3. Approve LOA with 258th Air Traffic Control Squadron 

4. Motion to Approve the Purchase of One Truckload of Polymer Coated and Aluminized Pipe from Cherokee 

Culvert Company, Inc in the Amount of $22,619.62. 

5. Motion to accept proposal from Coca-Cola to provide beverages for resell at Recreation Concessions 

(Athletics, Splash in the Boro & Ag Complex) 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 

1. Resolution Approving Certain Agreements in the National Opioid Litigation 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: County Attorney Jeff Akins 

2. Motion to Approve the Recognition of Public Works as First Responders in Bulloch County. 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Public Works Director Dink Butler and Administrative 

Specialist Alexis Knox 



Agenda Board of Commissioners March 21, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 2 Updated 3/16/2023 11:35 AM  

VII. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Audience 

VIII. COMMISSION AND STAFF COMMENTS 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Chairman Thompson et al 

IX. EXECUTIVE SESSION (PERSONNEL AND POTENTIAL LITIGATION) 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Chairman Thompson and County Attorney Jeff Akins 

X. WORK SESSION - BUDGET 

XI. ADJOURN 

RESOURCE PERSON/FACILITATOR: Chairman Thompson 



 

BULLOCH COUNTY 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

MINUTES ● MARCH 7, 2023 

 Regular Meeting Honey Bowen Building Multi-Purpose Room 5:30 PM 

  1 Max Lockwood Drive, Statesboro, GA 30458 

Bulloch County Page 1 Updated 3/16/2023 9:33 AM  

I. CALL TO ORDER, WELCOME MEDIA AND VISITORS 

Chairman Thompson called the meeting to order and welcomed the media and visitors.  

II. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE 

Commissioner Stringer gave the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance.  

 Chairman Thompson recognized Boy Scout Troop# 935 and their Merit Badge Coordinator, 

Assistant Solicitor General, Mrs. Judith Oglesby. Chairman Thompson had them introduce 

themselves and thanked them for coming. 

III. ROLL CALL 

Clerk of the Board Venus Mincey-White performed the roll call for the Commissioners.  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 

Ray Mosley Vice-Chairman Present  

Anthony Simmons Commissioner Present  

Curt Deal Commissioner Present  

Roy Thompson Chairman Present  

Jappy Stringer Commissioner Present  

Timmy Rushing Commissioner Present  

Toby Conner Commissioner Present  

 

The following staff were present:  County Manager Tom Couch, Assistant County Manager Cindy Steinmann, 

County Attorney Jeff Akins, Planning and Development Director James Pope, Chief Financial Officer Kristie King, 

Special Projects Manager Randy Newman, County Engineer Brad Deal, Human Resources Director Cindy Mallett, 

Parks and Recreation Director Eddie Canon, Public Works Director Dink Butler, Deputy EMS Director Brian 

Hendrix, Fire Chief Ben Tapley, GIS Technician/Address Coordinator Shannon Mixon, Sergeant Randy Weyer, 

Clerk of the Board Venus Mincey-White  

 

IV. APPROVAL OF GENERAL AGENDA 

Chairman Thompson called for a motion to approve the General Agenda as presented.  

1. Motion to approve the General Agenda as presented. 

5.1

Packet Pg. 3

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners March 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 2 Updated 3/16/2023 9:33 AM  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Curt Deal, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Roy Thompson, Jappy Stringer, Timmy 

Rushing, Toby Conner 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 

Chairman Thompson asked if there was any discussion or modifications to the Consent Agenda. There being none, 

he asked if we could vote on them collectively.  

 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented.  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Roy Thompson, Jappy Stringer, Timmy 

Rushing, Toby Conner 

1. Minutes Approval: Tuesday January 31st, 2023 10:00 AM 

2. Minutes Approval: Tuesday February 7th, 2023 05:30 PM 

3. Minutes Approval: Tuesday February 21st, 2023 08:30 AM 

4. Approve Neal's Plumbing & Electric replacement of plumbing in the Bulloch County Correctional Institute 

dorm bathrooms for $64,000.00 (See Exhibit# 2023-67). 

5. Approve an amendment to the budgets for Fiscal Year 2023 by appropriating amounts in some funds for 

various activities (See Exhibit# 2023-68). 

6. Approve an Easement to Georgia Power Company in Consideration for $935.00 (See Exhibit# 2023-69). 

7. Approve the purchase of new management and reporting software from First Due in the amount of 

$27,650.00 for the Bulloch County Fire Department (See Exhibit# 2023-70). 

8. Approve the purchase of a Grapple Truck from Solid Waste Applied Technologies, Inc. in the amount of 

$278,950.00 (See Exhibit# 2023-71). 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 

1. Approve and Ratify an Economic Development Agreement by and among the Development Authority of 

Bulloch County and Joon Georgia, Inc. 

County Attorney Jeff Akins stated that the Development Authority of Bulloch County and Joon Georgia, Inc. 

have entered into an Economic Development Agreement for a local industrial project. Mr. Akins stated that a 

Memorandum of Understanding for this project was previously approved by the Board of Commissioners on 

December 6, 2022. Mr. Akins stated that the parties to the agreement have requested that the Board of 

Commissioners and Board of Tax Assessors acknowledge the Agreement and agree to applicable provisions. He 

stated that it was necessary to sign the Agreement prior to this meeting in order to meet the deadline for closing 

on the bonds for the project. He asked that the Board approve and ratify the agreement (See Exhibit# 2023-72).  

 

5.1

Packet Pg. 4

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners March 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 3 Updated 3/16/2023 9:33 AM  

Motion to Approve and Ratify an Economic Development Agreement by and among the Development 

Authority of Bulloch County and Joon Georgia, Inc.   

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Roy Thompson, Jappy Stringer, Timmy Rushing, 

Toby Conner 

ABSTAIN: Curt Deal 

2. Discussion and/or Action to Change Road Name from Siggers Road to Nadine Way. 

County Attorney Jeff Akins presented a petition requesting the road name change of Siggers Road to Nadine 

Way. Mr. Akins stated that Section 4-78(g) of the Code of Ordinances requirements have been satisfied. He 

stated that Jessi Shuman and other family members have requested the name change of the road to honor a 

family member (See Exhibit# 2023-73).   

 

GIS Technician/Address Coordinator, Shannon Mixon, reiterated County Attorney Jeff Akin's statements, and 

stated also that it was a private road and family members have asked for the name changes and that she has 

approved the application. 

 

Motion to approve changing the name of Siggers Road to Nadine Way.  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Toby Conner, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Curt Deal, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Roy Thompson, Jappy Stringer, Timmy 

Rushing, Toby Conner 

3. Approve a Change Order in the amount of $42,232.00 to Lavender & Associates, Inc. for additional work 

on the North Main Annex renovation/addition project. 

Special Projects Manager Randy Newman stated that a Change Order was needed for additional repairs and 

renovations, deemed necessary, that have been discovered during the ongoing work at the North Main Annex. 

He stated that the existing stairs and handrails at the building's Planning and Zoning entrance are not code 

compliant and needed updating. Mr. Newman stated that additional new floor covering was needed on two short 

sections of hallway because of the worn down and stained conditions of the current carpet.    

 

Motion to approve a Change Order in the amount of $42,232.00 to Lavender & Associates, Inc. for additional 

work on the North Main Annex renovation/addition project (See Exhibit# 2023-74).  

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Ray Mosley, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Anthony Simmons, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Roy Thompson, Jappy Stringer, Timmy 

Rushing, Toby Conner 

VII. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Two people signed up to speak (See Exhibit# 2023-75). 

 

5.1

Packet Pg. 5

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners March 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 4 Updated 3/16/2023 9:33 AM  

Cassandra Mikell stated that at the last Commission meeting a Clear Bag policy for Splash in the Boro was 

discussed. Ms. Mikell stated that she and other concerned mothers and park attendees were opposed to the clear bag 

policy.  She stated that for various reasons, she does not think it is needed, and expressed concern about issues such 

as harmful toxins released by the plastic material, financial burden of purchasing clear bags, and worry of theft due 

to items being visible. She asked that the board reverse this policy.  

 

Parks and Recreation Director Eddie Canon stated that staff have looked at various ways to be proactive about safety 

at Splash in the Boro. He stated that he has heard the public's comments and concerns and that he and staff are 

looking again to reevaluate and look at other options. He stated that there have not been any incidents, but again 

wanted to be proactive about safety. He stated that he will come back before the Commission with his findings and 

recommendations if necessary.     

 

Lawton Sack also stated that he was opposed to the Clear Bag policy. He stated that he looked at other parks in 

Valdosta, Jekyll Island, and a Six Flags location, and that they are not implementing this policy. He stated that he 

felt the policy would be burdensome to park attendees.    

 

Commissioner Curt Deal asked Mr. Canon to bring this issue back to the Commissioners prior to the opening of 

Splash in the Boro.  

VIII. COMMISSION AND STAFF COMMENTS 

Assistant County Manager Cindy Steinmann presented a calendar for the month of March to Commissioners and 

Staff including upcoming dates and times scheduled for the Budget Retreat and Budget Work sessions.  

 

County Manager Tom Couch thanked Georgia Southern University for making the Bishop Field House available to 

the county to hold the Budget Retreat. He also thanked the staff for all the work they have done in preparation for 

the retreat and working on the budget.  

 

Clerk of the Board Venus Mincey-White reminded Commissioners and Administration of the ACCG Annual 

Conference to be held in Savannah in April. She asked that anyone planning to attend contact her to get registered.    

 

Chairman Thompson, Commissioner Curt Deal and Commissioner Timmy Rushing commended Boy Scout Troup# 

935 for their attendance.  

 

Commissioner Toby Conner stated that he and Department Heads have received numerous calls from citizens 

praising the County on the conditions of the dirt roads. He commended Department Heads for the work they do and 

their communication with the citizens.  

 

County Manager Tom Couch thanked the Parks and Recreation Department for their continued support in preparing 

the facility for the county meetings.   

IX. ADJOURN 

There being no further discussion, Chairman Thompson called for a motion to adjourn the meeting.  

1. Motion to adjourn. 

RESULT: Approved  [Unanimous] 

MOVER: Timmy Rushing, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Jappy Stringer, Commissioner 

AYES: Ray Mosley, Anthony Simmons, Curt Deal, Roy Thompson, Jappy Stringer, Timmy 

Rushing, Toby Conner 

  

Chairman 

5.1

Packet Pg. 6

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



Minutes Board of Commissioners March 7, 2023 

Bulloch County Page 5 Updated 3/16/2023 9:33 AM  

 

Attest: 

Venus Mincey-White,  

Clerk of the Board 

5.1

Packet Pg. 7

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 7

, 2
02

3 
5:

30
 P

M
  (

C
o

n
se

n
t 

A
g

en
d

a)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Parks and Recreation 

 

Meeting Date: March 21, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Motion to approve bid from Shea Tractor for purchase of a Compact Excavator 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

Sealed bids were accepted for the purchase of a Compact Excavator for Recreation Parks and Grounds 

division. The low bid received was from Shea Tractor in the amount of $48,500. Bid tabulation attached. 

 

The compact excavator will be used to repair irrigation leaks, install drainage on athletic fields, and grading of 

numerous projects. 

 

This purchase is budgeted in the FY23 CIP schedule - Project ID PARK07.  Approval of this purchase is 

recommended. 
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

Consent Agenda Budgeted Item? YES 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
NO 

Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Faye Bragg Completed 03/10/2023 8:30 AM 

Kristie King Completed 03/10/2023 8:41 AM 

Eddie Canon Completed 03/10/2023 1:10 PM 

Tom Couch Completed 03/12/2023 11:02 AM 

Cindy Steinmann Completed 03/15/2023 2:55 PM 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/21/2023 8:30 AM 

5.2

Packet Pg. 8



5.2.a

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
m

p
ac

t 
E

xc
av

at
o

r 
3-

21
-2

3 
m

tg
  (

C
o

m
p

ac
t 

E
xc

av
at

o
r 

P
u

rc
h

as
e)



5.2.a

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
m

p
ac

t 
E

xc
av

at
o

r 
3-

21
-2

3 
m

tg
  (

C
o

m
p

ac
t 

E
xc

av
at

o
r 

P
u

rc
h

as
e)



5.2.a

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
m

p
ac

t 
E

xc
av

at
o

r 
3-

21
-2

3 
m

tg
  (

C
o

m
p

ac
t 

E
xc

av
at

o
r 

P
u

rc
h

as
e)



5.2.a

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
m

p
ac

t 
E

xc
av

at
o

r 
3-

21
-2

3 
m

tg
  (

C
o

m
p

ac
t 

E
xc

av
at

o
r 

P
u

rc
h

as
e)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Airport 

 

Meeting Date: March 21, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Approve LOA with 258th Air Traffic Control Squadron 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

The 258th Air Traffic Control Squadron wishes to install a temporary tower operations at Statesboro Bulloch 

County Airport in order to perform live emergency response operations from June 8th to June 13th 2023. 
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

Consent Agenda Budgeted Item? NO 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
NO 

Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Jeff Akins Completed 03/09/2023 11:59 AM 

Kristie King Completed 03/09/2023 4:02 PM 

Tom Couch Completed 03/12/2023 11:06 AM 

Cindy Steinmann Completed 03/15/2023 2:55 PM 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/21/2023 8:30 AM 

5.3

Packet Pg. 13



Statesboro-Bulloch County Airport (KTBR) and 258th Air Traffic Control Squadron (258 ATCS) 
 

LETTER OF AGREEMENT 
 

EFFECTIVE: Draft 
 

SUBJECT: Temporary Tower Operations 
 
1. PURPOSE: This letter of agreement (LOA) establishes coordination procedures and 
responsibilities for air traffic control operations at the Statesboro-Bulloch County Airport (TBR), 
during Statesboro-Bulloch County Temporary Air Traffic Control Tower (TATCT) operations. 

 
2. SCOPE: The procedures outlined herein are for use in the conducting of ATC operations 
within Statesboro-Bulloch County TATCT’s delegated airspace and controlled movement 
areas, during TATCT operations. 

 
3. CANCELLATION: This LOA may be cancelled by either party, upon reasonable notice of 
the other party. 

 
4. RESPONSIBILITIES: The 258th Air Traffic Control Squadron (258 ATCS), 
Johnstown, PA will set up and operate a TATCT at TBR in June 2023. Controllers will obtain 
ratings and work live air and ground traffic in accordance with (IAW) applicable FAA and 
USAF/ANG regulations. 

 
5. PROCEDURES: 

 
a. The TBR airport manager shall ensure a Notice to Airman (NOTAM) is filed, advising 
all aircraft that a Temporary Air Traffic Control Tower is operating (dates/times) and with 
the airspace dimensions at the Statesboro-Bulloch County Airport. 

 
b. TBR TATCT shall: 

 
(1) Provide air traffic services IAW published NOTAM, FAA, and USAF/ANG 

regulations. The Chief Controller will coordinate with Airport Manager as soon as 
practical or prior to terminating services in the event that services can no longer 
be provided. 

 
(2)  Provide separation services to and be responsible for all aircraft in the controlled 

airspace and controlled movement areas (CMA) of TBR, as defined in the 
definitions. 

 
(3) Require aircraft, vehicles and personnel to contact air traffic control prior to 

accessing the CMA. 
 

(4) Immediately notify Bulloch County Emergency Services at 911 or (912) 764-8888 
in the event of an aircraft emergency and assist emergency responders to the 
maximum extent possible. Notify the airport manager at (912) 764-9083 (work) or 
(912) 978-1632 (cell) as soon as practical. The airport manager will determine the 
continuation or termination of Air Traffic Services, in consultation with the Chief 
Controller, Frankie Perez (856) 466-1016. 

5.3.a

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

B
R

 A
ir

p
o

rt
 L

O
A

- 
R

ev
is

ed
  (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 L

O
A

 w
it

h
 2

58
th

 A
ir

 T
ra

ff
ic

 C
o

n
tr

o
l S

q
u

ad
ro

n
)



 
(5) Inform Airport Manager of any hazards present on airfield. 
 
(6) Contact Airport Manager if a runway incursion occurs. 
 
(7) Inform Airport Manager of any incidents involving aircraft or vehicles. 

 
6. DEFINITIONS: 
 

a. Controlled Movement Area (CMA). The CMA is defined as the runway and taxiways. 
 

b. Non-Movement Areas (NMA). The NMA are defined as the ramps and hangar areas. 
 

c. Airspace. The airspace is defined as controlled airspace 2500 feet AGL with a 4 
nautical mile radius. 

 
7. PERSONNEL: The Parties to this LOA are the 258 ATCS and Bulloch County d/b/a the 
Statesboro-Bulloch County Airport. Each Party is responsible for all costs of its personnel, 
including pay and benefits, support, and travel. Each Party is responsible for supervision and 
management of its personnel. 

 
8. POINTS OF CONTACT: The following points of contact will be used by the Parties to 
communicate in the implementation of this LOA. Each Party may change its point of contact 
upon reasonable notice to the other Party. 

 
a. For the 258 ATCS: Chief Controller, Airfield Operations Officer, Benjamin Kaufman  
(419)  989-9593 
 
b. For the Statesboro-Bulloch County Airport, Kathy Boykin (912) 764-9083. 

 
9. EXCEPTIONS: Deviations from this agreement shall be permitted only with coordination 
between the Airport Manager and TATCT Chief Controller. 
 
 
 
 
 
Roy Thompson                 Frank J. Shoaf, Lt PAANG 
Chairman, Bulloch County Board of Commissioners   Commander, 258ATCS 
 
 
 
 
 
        _____ 
        FAA ATREP 
 
 
 

5.3.a

Packet Pg. 15

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

B
R

 A
ir

p
o

rt
 L

O
A

- 
R

ev
is

ed
  (

A
p

p
ro

ve
 L

O
A

 w
it

h
 2

58
th

 A
ir

 T
ra

ff
ic

 C
o

n
tr

o
l S

q
u

ad
ro

n
)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Public Works 

 

Meeting Date: March 21, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Motion to Approve the Purchase of One Truckload of Polymer Coated and Aluminized Pipe from Cherokee Culvert 

Company, Inc in the Amount of $22,619.62. 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

Purchase of one mixed load of pipe from Cherokee Culvert for $22,619.62. 
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

Consent Agenda Budgeted Item? NO 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
NO 

Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Faye Bragg Completed 03/02/2023 4:45 PM 

Kristie King Completed 03/03/2023 8:12 AM 

There were two requisitions attached, I deleted one that appeared to be attached by mistake (not 

for this purchase). 

Tom Couch Completed 03/15/2023 2:56 PM 

Cindy Steinmann Completed 03/16/2023 11:04 AM 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/21/2023 8:30 AM 

5.4

Packet Pg. 16



5.4.a

Packet Pg. 17

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

S
J 

C
h

er
o

ke
e 

3-
2-

23
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

P
ip

e 
fr

o
m

 C
h

er
o

ke
e 

C
u

lv
er

t 
C

o
m

p
an

y,
 In

c)



Sr-der Nn,

3Tt6{,183e t6 01S 3g

3T16{ig43e 16 {}84 }p

flTl6crl$e(r 16 {'t5 g(t

1I'T458*BULLEf,

CHERffHEE cuLilEHT Efrr4F,fl$Y, Il{f,.

F *ge I{n.

Lr.ll r-131c.1

BULLSTH ENUHTY CT}FIIYIISSIfiNERS

115 hIORTH FIAIN STEEET
5TfiTEsSffRil Gfi 3$45&

F,hone r 8131764-6363 Fbl

f,ORREf,TIOFIAL IT'ISTITUTE
173(,t u. s. HiGHt"tftY stl1
$TflTESt{SR0, GEfiRSIft
BULLOf,H IfiUFITY

plat'15fts

AT16{'IsLB

F'19{i1Sf,S

ATlBOl&LB

PlE{tgl}fiS

AT18('P4LB

lE {,1S ffS

lg {r15 LB

lE (,1S fiS

18 fil$ LB

1g {tal} A$

T8 OE4 Lts

480, {}*{t

*56. r-,{rt}

1fl{r. *{rfi

5, (!{rti

5. **fl

5. {,0(t

5. tl{ro

5. {rtxr

5. f-l*$

ee.9e

,3Lr. I C

15.36

1(r9.5&

15. 96

137, g{r

15.08

165, E4

11fxr1. 6(t

771fi.79

1-.J.JE" LrL'

547, &t!

73, S{r

63&" {r*

!5.4*

8t6.8{t

186. 1(l

GffLUANIZHD f,T]fiRUGATEN STEEL CULUERT
FIpEf HITII 3/3 F,0LYtrtER LAl4INflTr
E0ffTINET RER0LLEp ENOS! AhtD LIFTING
HNOHS

3/3 F.fiLYI{ER *-* LfiIIIII{ATE F.TPE
15 - 3Er SECTIO|TIS

3/3 F'ILYf,IER -* LA}4INfiTE F'IT.E
S - 3E' $Ef,TIffNS

ffLUFIINlZES TYPE E CORRLIGNTES $TEHL
f,ULUEHT pIF,E! t{iTH RERffLLE0 END$

ffLUMINIZED TYF.E * PIPE
5 * E{,' SECTIENS

fiSRPTHR SLEEUE FSR f,BHTRETE F.IPE

ffLUFIIhIITEO TYPE E LUG BftND

ffSftPTER SLEEUE FSR CfiFICRETE F.IF.E

RLUI{INI:IA TYF.E T LUS BffNS

ffTgPTEft SLEE|JE FOR CBNIRETE F,IF,E

ffLUI'IINITED TYPE fl LU6 BAIIID

xx** Af,ltl{fil"ILEnffHENT x***
5r-rht of a 1

SaIes Tax
Fr"e i ght

eE61g,6e
l-r, Lrl-,

tl llll

5.4.b

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

h
er

o
ke

e 
C

u
lv

er
t 

3-
2-

23
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

P
ip

e 
fr

o
m

 C
h

er
o

ke
e 

C
u

lv
er

t 
C

o
m

p
an

y,
 In

c)



DATE:

THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE REQUESTED TO BE PURCHASED:

UNIT PRICE EXTENSION UNIT PRICE EXTENSION UNIT PRICE EXTENSION

480 $                                      22.92 $     11,001.60 $            22.92 $     11,001.60 

256 $                                      30.12 $       7,710.72 $            30.12 $       7,710.72 

100 $                                      15.96 $       1,596.00 $            15.96 $       1,596.00 

5 $                                    109.56 $          547.80 $          109.56 $          547.80 

5 $                                      15.96 $            79.80 $            15.96 $            79.80 

5 $                                    127.20 $          636.00 $          127.20 $          636.00 

5 $                                      19.08 $            95.40 $            19.08 $            95.40 

5 $                                    165.24 $          826.20 $          165.24 $          826.20 

5 $                                      25.22 $          126.10 $            25.22 $          126.10 

PLUS FREIGHT

TOTALS 22,619.62 $     22,619.62 

AWARD TO: Cherokee Culvert Company, Inc

24" Adapter Sleeve for Concrete Pipe

NO. 1 NO. 2 NO. 3

18" 3/3 Polymer Laminate Pipe

24" 3/3 Polymer Laminate Pipe

15" Aluminized Lug Band

18" Aluminized Sleeve for Concrete Pipe

15" Aluminized Pipe 20' Sections

15" Adapter Sleeve for Concrete Pipe

18" Lug Band

VENDOR QUOTATIONS

QUANTITY DESCRIPTION

Cherokee Culvert 
Company, IncUNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

REQUISITION
3/2/2023TO: PURCHASING BULLOCH COUNTY, GEORGIA

DEPARTMENT HEAD/DESIGNEE

PURCHASE ORDER NO.:DEPT. ACCOUNT NO.: 10042010-531101Dink Butler

24" Aluminized Lug Band

Transportation

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT NOTES

(IF NOT LOW QUOTATION STATE REASON)

5.4.c

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eq
u

is
it

io
n

- 
C

h
er

o
ke

e 
C

u
lv

er
t 

3-
2-

23
  (

P
u

rc
h

as
e 

o
f 

P
ip

e 
fr

o
m

 C
h

er
o

ke
e 

C
u

lv
er

t 
C

o
m

p
an

y,



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Parks and Recreation 

 

Meeting Date: March 21, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Motion to accept proposal from Coca-Cola to provide beverages for resell at Recreation Concessions (Athletics, Splash in the 

Boro & Ag Complex) 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

A Request for Proposal was sent out to beverage vendors in February 2023.  Coca-Cola was the only vendor to 

respond. 

 

Coca-Cola has been the beverage vendor for Mill Creek concessions since it’s opening in 1993. They have also 

provided beverages for Splash in the Boro and the Agricultural Complex since their openings.  Coca-Cola has 

always provided excellent product and service.  

 

This proposal will allow us to continue to serve Coca-Cola products, and to receive $27,000 in monetary 

sponsorships during FY23 and FY24.  We will also receive $1,000 of in-kind product donations for events.  

This is an increase of $2,300 from the previous proposal, as well as an increase in products for commission in 

our vending machines. 

 

Coca-Cola has also provided us with the opportunity to have customizable signage made to be placed at our 

facility at no additional cost to us. 

 

The agreement would be in effect for an initial term beginning April 7, 2023, and ending on April 6, 2024. 

After the initial term, the agreement may be renewed for up to two (2) successive one (1) year periods. (April 

7, 2023 through April 6, 2026 - including each renewal term). 

 

Approval of this agreement is recommended. 

 

 

Reference ID 1208, 1745, 1953 (prior proposals/contract renewals) 
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

Consent Agenda Budgeted Item? YES 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
NO 

5.5

Packet Pg. 20



Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Jeff Akins Completed 03/15/2023 1:14 PM 

Kristie King Completed 03/15/2023 2:31 PM 

Tom Couch Completed 03/15/2023 2:55 PM 

Cindy Steinmann Completed 03/16/2023 11:04 AM 

Olympia Gaines Pending  

Eddie Canon Completed 03/16/2023 11:22 AM 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/21/2023 8:30 AM 

5.5

Packet Pg. 21



5.5.a

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 B

ev
er

ag
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

3-
21

-2
3 

m
tg

  (
C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l)



5.5.a

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 B

ev
er

ag
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

3-
21

-2
3 

m
tg

  (
C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l)



5.5.a

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 B

ev
er

ag
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

3-
21

-2
3 

m
tg

  (
C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l)



5.5.a

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 B

ev
er

ag
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

3-
21

-2
3 

m
tg

  (
C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l)



5.5.a

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 B

ev
er

ag
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

3-
21

-2
3 

m
tg

  (
C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l)



5.5.a

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 B

ev
er

ag
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

3-
21

-2
3 

m
tg

  (
C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l)



5.5.a

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 B

ev
er

ag
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

3-
21

-2
3 

m
tg

  (
C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l)



5.5.a

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 B

ev
er

ag
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

3-
21

-2
3 

m
tg

  (
C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l)



5.5.a

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 B

ev
er

ag
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

3-
21

-2
3 

m
tg

  (
C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l)



5.5.a

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 B

ev
er

ag
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

3-
21

-2
3 

m
tg

  (
C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l)



5.5.a

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 B

ev
er

ag
e 

A
g

re
em

en
t 

3-
21

-2
3 

m
tg

  (
C

o
ca

-C
o

la
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Legal 

 

Meeting Date: March 21, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Resolution Approving Certain Agreements in the National Opioid Litigation 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

As indicated by the attached letter from the Blasingame law firm, several defendants in the national opioid 

litigation have reached settlements that the State of Georgia and local government entities have the option to 

join.  Based on the recommendation in the attached letter, adoption of the attached resolution approving 

certain agreements and forms related to these settlements is recommended. 
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

New Business Budgeted Item? NO 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
NO 

Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/21/2023 8:30 AM 

6.1

Packet Pg. 33



 

 

Andrew J. Hill III 
Email address:  ahill@bbga.com   
 
March 2, 2023 

 
Via Email 
 

 
Re:  In Re: National Prescription Opiate Litigation, MDL 2804 
   
   
Dear Client:   

 
We are writing to you regarding the five new national opioid settlements that have been 

reached with Defendants Teva, Allergan, CVS, Walgreens, and Wal-Mart (collectively the 
“New Opioid Settlements”).  The settlement agreements for the New Opioid Settlements, 
which are attached to this letter for your review, total approximately $20 billion.   

 
On February 1, 2023, you should have received a DocuSign email titled “Action 

Required: Teva, Allergan, CVS, Walgreens, Walmart National Opioid Settlements” from 
Rubris, the Opioids Implementation Administrator, with Participation Forms to participate 
in the New Opioid Settlements.  The DocuSign email was sent from dse_NA3@docusign.net.  
Rubris also sends emails directly from opioidsparticipation@rubris.com.  Attached to this 
letter are examples of the Participation Forms that Rubris sent.  The Participation Forms for 
the New Opioid Settlements are substantially similar to the Participation Forms your 
subdivision signed to participate in the National Distributor and Janssen Settlements (your 
subdivision recently received payments from the National Distributor and Janssen 
Settlements).   

 
For the same reasons we recommended your subdivision participate in the National 

Distributor and Janssen Settlements, we recommend your subdivision participate in the New 
Opioid Settlements.  The New Opioid Settlements have overwhelming support nationwide 
and within the State of Georgia, including from Attorney General Chris Carr and attorneys 
representing other Georgia subdivisions.  Further, participating in the New Opioid 
Settlements is the best way to ensure your subdivision receives a recovery from the settling 
Defendants (there is the risk of state legislated litigation bars and/or defendant bankruptcies), 
maximizes its recovery from the settling Defendants, receives payments and resources sooner 
rather than later, and is not on the outside looking in.      

 

6.1.a

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

et
te

r 
 (

R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 A

p
p

ro
ve

 O
p

io
id

 L
it

ig
at

io
n

 S
et

tl
em

en
ts

)

mailto:ahill@bbga.com
mailto:dse_NA3@docusign.net
mailto:opioidsparticipation@rubris.com


 
 
March 2, 2023  
Page 2 

 

 

We also recommend that you wait to sign the Participation Forms for the New Opioid 
Settlements.  We (along with counsel for other Georgia subdivisions) are advising our clients to 
wait to sign the Participation Forms because we are still in the process of reaching a Memorandum 
of Understanding (“MOU”) with the State of Georgia regarding the New Opioid Settlements.  As 
was the case with the National Distributor and Janssen Settlements, the purpose of having a MOU 
in place for the New Opioid Settlements is to maximize the funds available under the settlements 
and to control how funds from the settlements are allocated between the State of Georgia and 
Georgia’s subdivisions.   

 
We anticipate that the terms of the MOU for the New Opioid Settlements will be identical 

in all material respects to the MOU the State of Georgia and Georgia’s subdivisions entered for 
the National Distributor and Janssen Settlements.  Namely, we anticipate that the MOU for the 
New Opioid Settlements will contain the same allocation percentages:  

 
• The State of Georgia receives 75% of the settlement funds 

o The State of Georgia must expend at least 40% of its share of the settlement 
funds on a regional basis, which inures to the benefit of all Georgians  

 
• Participating Georgia subdivisions receive 25% of the settlement funds  

o If a participating county has a litigating sheriff, the county must allocate at least 
9.45% of its settlement funds to the sheriff  

o If a participating county has a litigating hospital, the county must allocate at 
least 2% of its settlement funds to the hospital  

o If a participating county has a litigating school district, the county must allocate 
at least 1% of its settlement funds to the school district  

A copy of the MOU for the National Distributor and Janssen Settlements is attached for your 
review.  Your subdivision executed Exhibit 1 to the MOU, the Acknowledgement and Agreement 
To Be Bound By Memorandum of Understanding, alongside the National Distributor and Janssen 
Participation Forms, when it joined the National Distributor and Janssen Settlements in 2021. 
 
  Although the MOU for the New Opioid Settlements has not been finalized yet, the 
deadline to participate in the New Opioid Settlements – April 18, 2023 – is fast approaching.  
Accordingly, we strongly recommend that your subdivision approve the (anticipated) MOU 
and agree to participate in the New Opioid Settlements at your next Board of Commissioners 
or City Council Meeting.  We also suggest that you appoint an individual – preferably the 
individual who received the DocuSign email from Rubris with the Participation Forms – as 
the individual authorized to execute the (anticipated) MOU acknowledgment and complete 
the Participation Forms for the New Opioid Settlements.  This will ensure that the necessary 
documents can be executed quickly once the MOU is finalized.   
 
 By March 10, 2023, please send an email to Julie Boyer at jboyer@bbga.com with the 
date of the meeting where your subdivision plans to discuss approving the (anticipated) MOU 
and participating in the New Opioid Settlements.  After that meeting, please email Ms. Boyer 
the name and contact information of the individual your subdivision has appointed to execute 

6.1.a

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

et
te

r 
 (

R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 A

p
p

ro
ve

 O
p

io
id

 L
it

ig
at

io
n

 S
et

tl
em

en
ts

)

mailto:jboyer@bbga.com


 
 
March 2, 2023  
Page 3 

 

 

the (anticipated) MOU acknowledgment and complete the Participation Forms for the New 
Opioid Settlements.   
 

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact us.    
 

Sincerely, 
 
  /s/ Andrew J. Hill III 
 
  Andrew J. Hill III 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.1.a

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 L

et
te

r 
 (

R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 A

p
p

ro
ve

 O
p

io
id

 L
it

ig
at

io
n

 S
et

tl
em

en
ts

)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



6.1.b

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

  (
R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 A
p

p
ro

ve
 O

p
io

id
 L

it
ig

at
io

n
 S

et
tl

em
en

ts
)



 

 

 

Bulloch County Board of Commissioners 

Agenda Item Summary 

Department Making Request: 

Public Works 

 

Meeting Date: March 21, 2023 

Requested Motion or Item Title: 

Motion to Approve the Recognition of Public Works as First Responders in Bulloch County. 

 

Summary / Background Attach Detailed Summary: 

We are requesting that Public Works be recognized in Bulloch County as First Responders due to their 

involvement in emergency response situations and assistance provided to LE, Fire and EMS. 
 

Agenda Category Financial Impact Statement 

New Business Budgeted Item? NO 
Amendment or 

Transfer Required? 
NO 

Attach Detailed Analysis, If Needed: 

 

Agenda Item Review and Approval 

 

Review: 

Board of Commissioners Pending 03/21/2023 8:30 AM 

6.2

Packet Pg. 55



Airport                                                                       Environmental Management 
Fleet                                           Solid Waste   
Transportation                            Roll off Services  
           
          

 
Bulloch County 

17315 Hwy 301 N Statesboro, GA 30458 
Phone 912-764-6369  Fax 912-764-6469 

 

 February 24, 2023 

As an introduction, following 9/11 President George W. Bush issued the Homeland Security Presidential 
Directive 8. This directive was to define who was classified as a first responder to determine the need and 
expectations for training and involvement in emergency management operations. The full list of responders 
included in this directive are: emergency public safety, law enforcement, emergency response, emergency 
medical (including hospital emergency facilities), public health, clinical care, public works and other skilled 
support personnel (such as equipment operators).  

Later, the Transportation Research Board archived a publication, Public Works: The nation’s forgotten first 
responder, authored by APWA(American Public Works Association) making supplemental notes declaring 
public works departments as part of the official ranks of first responders by FEMA’s guidelines in 2002 and 
again in 2003. 

It was 15 years later in 2017 that the APWA Board of Directors approved the adoption of a symbol to 
acknowledge the federally-mandated role of Public Works as first responders.  

In 2022, the USDOT gathered representatives from Public Works to participate in Crash Responder Safety 
Week acknowledging their roles in emergency response. 

To date, the State of Georgia has not explicitly named Public Works in it’s list of first responders. However, 
local governments, both in- and out-of-state, have already begun declaring Public Works as first responders. 
One of significance being the City of Valdosta who made the declaration in 2018 following an incident in which 
a snowstorm swept through. During the storm, there was a seven car pile up on an overpass that law 
enforcement and EMS were unable to access due to snow and icy conditions. Public Works employees 
responded immediately to salt and sand the roads to gain access. They then stayed on scene to help clean the 
roadway of the damaged vehicles and debris from the accident. 

We, Bulloch County Public Works, are proposing that Bulloch County Board of Commissioners instate a 
proclamation naming Public Works as first responders. In declared (and undeclared) emergencies, Public Works 
employees are one of the first on the scene and almost always the last to leave. From clearing debris from 
roadways during/after major storms to “trash-magedon” at the collection centers in the days following 
Christmas, Public Works remains on-call responding to every need. For every major event, we automatically 

6.2.a

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 a

s 
F

ir
st

 R
es

p
o

n
d

er
s 

 (
P

u
b

lic
 W

o
rk

s 
as

 F
ir

st
 R

es
p

o
n

d
er

s)



fall into shift schedules to make sure we remain alert and available to keep our roadways safe and clear for other 
emergency response needs. These shifts include administrative staff, at least one field supervisor, and operators 
and detail supervisors broken into crews to allow for dispatch to multiple locations at a time. Following such 
events, we are always last to leave making sure we’ve made satisfactory cleanup efforts. This protocol remains 
in effect not only until Bulloch County has recovered but surrounding counties as well. 

We feel that our employees, while they never expect it, deserve the recognition for the safety they provide to 
our community. We believe that making this distinction will not only aid in our planned efforts to improve 
public relations, but an immeasurable and invaluable boost in morale and purpose to our team. We are not 
making this request to undermine the heroic acts of law enforcement, fire or other Public Safety-first 
responders. We are making this request to acknowledge the men and women of Public Works who offer trained 
and specialized support to other first responders in the form of clear, safe roadways. We make it our first 
priority in emergency situations to ensure that we have staff ready and available should the Sheriff’s office or 
Fire department call for assistance with the removal of trees or other hazards from the roadway. We have 
received positive feedback and support on the idea from other commonly-named first responding entities.  

We would like to present an expanded proposal to the board seeking proclamation and adding more detail and 
understanding to just how much Public Works has a role in our community, and we would greatly appreciate 
your support in this effort. Our goal is to present this matter to the Commission prior to the kickoff of Public 
Works Week which is May 21-27th.  

We have already come up with several planning measures to make this proclamation happen as well as a special 
presentation to the department should management and the Board so agree. We would be glad to share those 
thoughts with you as well as hear any additional suggestions you may have. 

Just for a visual aid, below is a link to a video that is shared in APWA CPWM classes showing just how much 
can be involved in PW and what it’s absence may look like. I wouldn’t watch the entire video- you get the point 
after a few minutes, but it paints a great picture. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Sh12w5EMqiE  

I’ve also attached the previously mentioned symbol adopted by APWA. Should the county declare PW as first 
responders, we would like to add these decals to all of our vehicles. 

 

6.2.a

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

W
 a

s 
F

ir
st

 R
es

p
o

n
d

er
s 

 (
P

u
b

lic
 W

o
rk

s 
as

 F
ir

st
 R

es
p

o
n

d
er

s)

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Sh12w5EMqiE

	Agenda Packet
	I. Call to Order, Welcome Media and Visitors
	II. Invocation and Pledge
	III. Roll Call
	1. Roll Call

	IV. Approval of General Agenda
	V. Consent Agenda
	1. Minutes of Mar 7, 2023 5:30 PM
	Printout: Minutes of Mar 7, 2023 5:30 PM

	2. Compact Excavator Purchase
	Printout: Compact Excavator Purchase
	a. Compact Excavator 3-21-23 mtg

	3. Approve LOA with 258th Air Traffic Control Squadron
	Printout: Approve LOA with 258th Air Traffic Control Squadron
	a. TBR Airport LOA- Revised

	4. Purchase of Pipe from Cherokee Culvert Company, Inc
	Printout: Purchase of Pipe from Cherokee Culvert Company, Inc
	a. SSJ Cherokee 3-2-23
	b. Cherokee Culvert 3-2-23
	c. Requisition- Cherokee Culvert 3-2-23

	5. Coca-Cola Proposal
	Printout: Coca-Cola Proposal
	a. Coca-Cola Beverage Agreement 3-21-23 mtg


	VI. New Business
	1. Resolution Approve Opioid Litigation Settlements
	Printout: Resolution Approve Opioid Litigation Settlements
	a. Letter
	b. Resolution

	2. Public Works as First Responders
	Printout: Public Works as First Responders
	a. PW as First Responders


	VII. Public Comments
	VIII. Commission and Staff Comments
	IX. Executive Session (Personnel and Potential Litigation)
	X. Work Session - Budget
	XI. Adjourn

	Appendix
	5.1 · Minutes of Mar 7, 2023 5:30 PM
	5.2 · Compact Excavator Purchase
	5.2.a · Compact Excavator 3-21-23 mtg

	5.3 · Approve LOA with 258th Air Traffic Control Squadron
	5.3.a · TBR Airport LOA- Revised

	5.4 · Purchase of Pipe from Cherokee Culvert Company, Inc
	5.4.a · SSJ Cherokee 3-2-23
	5.4.b · Cherokee Culvert 3-2-23
	5.4.c · Requisition- Cherokee Culvert 3-2-23

	5.5 · Coca-Cola Proposal
	5.5.a · Coca-Cola Beverage Agreement 3-21-23 mtg

	6.1 · Resolution Approve Opioid Litigation Settlements
	6.1.a · Letter
	6.1.b · Resolution

	6.2 · Public Works as First Responders
	6.2.a · PW as First Responders



